1959

Marion S. Carter v. Edward B. Jackson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The problem involved in this lawsuit is relative to the nature of remarks made by a city councilman in and during a city council meeting and later reiterated and restated after said meeting was adjourned in same city council meeting room and as to whether or not said statements were privileged, and if privileged, ordinarily whether or not the privilege was removed by the fact that said statements were untrue and reiterated after said meeting was adjourned.

On the 15th day of April, 1958, in an open and public meeting of the city council of South Salt Lake City the

Defendant, Edward B. Jackson, a commissioner in charge of the water department accused the Plaintiff herein, a deputy city marshall of the city of South Salt Lake of propositioning a woman whom the Plaintiff was alleged to have apprehended and arrested in his course of employment as a police officer.

That thereafter and after said meeting was adjourned the Plaintiff specifically on asking the Defendant to explain his previous remarks received a reiteration by the Defendant of the prior statement and accusation.

The Defendant herein did not personally have charge of the police department in his duties as city councilman, and the statements made about the Defendant were untrue.

As a result of said libelous statements by the Defendant the Plaintiff was held up to ridicule by the people among whom he worked and in the community in which he lived and therefore withdrew from his employment and was unemployed and had considerable loss of wages in addition to the humiliations suffered because of publications of said statement.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

THE CLASS OF ABSOLUTELY PRIVILEGED COMMUNICATIONS NOW AND IS PRACTICALLY LIMITED TO LEGISLATIVE AND JUDICIAL PROCEEDINGS AND OTHER ACTS OF STATE.

POINT II.

NO PRIVILEGE RESULTS MERELY FROM THE FACT THAT A DEFENDANT BELIEVES THAT HE OWES A SOCIAL DUTY TO GIVE CURRENCY TO RUMORS OF A LIBELOUS CHARACTER SO THAT THE VICTIM OF THEM MAY BE AVOIDED, AND PARTICULARLY IF SAID STATEMENTS ARE UNTRUE OR MADE RECKLESSLY WITHOUT CARE AS TO WHETHER THEY ARE TRUE OR FALSE.

POINT III.

COMMENTS MADE ON A MATTER OF PUBLIC INTEREST MAY BE PRIVILEGED IF FAIRLY MADE BUT COMMENT IS FAIR ONLY WHEN IT CONFINES ITSELF TO THINGS OR TO THE ACTS OF CONDUCT OF PERSONS, AND COMMENT GOING SO FAR AS TO ATTACK PERSONAL CHARACTER OR TO IMPUTE MORAL OR CORRUPT MOTIVES IS UNFAIR AND UNPRIVILEGED AND CERTAINLY NO PRIVILEGE EXTENDS TO MISSTATEMENTS OF FACT EVEN THOUGH MADE WITHOUT MALICE AND IN THE HONEST BELIEF THAT THEY ARE TRUE. THIS RULE HAS BEEN APPLIED EVEN THOUGH THE FALSE STATEMENT IS MADE UNINTENTIONALLY OR AS THE RESULT OF ACCIDENT OR MISTAKE.

POINT IV.

GENERAL DAMAGES ARE PRESUMED FROM THE PUBLICATION OF A LIBELOUS MATTER AND WHILE NOT SUSCEPTIBLE OF BEING ACCURATELY MEASURED THEY ARE GENERALLY MORE SUBSTANTIAL AND REAL THAN THOSE DESIGNATED AS ACTUAL AND MEASURED ACCURATELY BY THE DOLLAR STANDARD, AND THE MERE CIRCUMSTANCE THAT THE PLAINTIFF RETAINED HIS EMPLOYMENT FOR SOME CONSIDERABLE TIME AFTER PUBLICATION OF A LIBEL CONCERNING HIM DOES NOT ENTITLE THE DEFENDANT TO HAVE THE RECOVERY LIMITED TO NOMINAL DAMAGES IF

IT APPEARS THAT THE PLAINTIFF'S EMPLOYER IMMEDIATELY LOST CONFIDENCE IN HIM AND THE PLAINTIFF SUFFERED HUMILIATION THEREBY AND AN AWARD FOR COMPENSATORY DAMAGES FOR DEFACTION MAY BE SUPPLEMENTED BY AN ALLOWANCE OF PUNITIVE DAMAGES WHEREINEVER IT IS MADE TO APPEAR THAT THE DEFENDANT ACTED WITH MALICE OR WITH SUCH GROSS AND RECKLESS NEGLIGENCE AS TO AMOUNT THERETO, AND FURTHERMORE, WHERE THE DEFACTION COMPLAINED OF IS ACTIONABLE PER SE, IT IS GENERALLY HELD THAT PUNITIVE DAMAGES MAY BE AWARDED EVEN THOUGH THE AMOUNT OF ACTUAL DAMAGE IS NEITHER FOUND NOR SHOWN.

POINT V.

THE COURT ERRED IN NOT SUBMITTING THE QUESTION OF WHETHER OR NOT SAID COMMUNICATION WAS PRIVILEGED TO THE JURY BECAUSE IT WAS A QUESTION OF FACT BASED UPON CIRCUMSTANCES.

POINT VI.

THAT THE COURT ERRED IN MAKING A DIRECTED VERDICT AND DID NOT SUBMIT THE MATTER TO THE JURY, INASMUCH AS MALICE IS IMPLIED, WHERE THE STATEMENTS MADE WERE GIVEN RECKLESSLY WITHOUT EFFORT TO ASCERTAIN THEIR TRUTHFULNESS AND SAID STATEMENTS ARE FALSE AND THAT MALICE WOULD REMOVE ANY PRIVILEGE THAT THE DEFENDANT MAY HAVE HAD IN THE STATEMENTS MADE.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE CLASS OF ABSOLUTELY PRIVILEGED COMMUNICATIONS NOW AND IS PRACTICALLY LIMITED TO LEGISLATIVE AND JUDICIAL PROCEEDINGS AND OTHER ACTS OF STATE.

The city council meeting which was hearing the Defendant herein speak, was not in the nature of legislative and judicial proceedings as were contemplated for the protection of a person making statements therein, therefore, there is no absolute privilege of the Defendant to say anything that he pleased regardless of the truth or falsity of the accusations by the Defendant. This particular session of the council was not a special one but a regularly scheduled meeting of said city council, and the communication herein was not privileged because of it not being a hearing for legislative or judicial proceedings. This board was neither hearing evidence or gathering information for the passing of ordinances nor was it empowered to in any way proceed in a judicial hearing relative to the matters under discussion.

There is a complete discussion of this matter of absolute privilege in 2 A.L.R. 1371, the sum and substance of which sets forth the above rule of law.

POINT II.

NO PRIVILEGE RESULTS MERELY FROM THE FACT THAT A DEFENDANT BELIEVES THAT HE OWES A SOCIAL DUTY TO GIVE CURRENCY TO RUMORS OF A LIBELOUS CHARACTER SO THAT THE VICTIM OF THEM MAY BE AVOIDED, AND PARTICULARLY IF SAID STATEMENTS ARE UNTRUE OR MADE RECKLESSLY WITHOUT CARE AS TO WHETHER THEY ARE TRUE OR FALSE.

Even where there is privilege of legislative and judicial actions of governmental bodies there are limitations on said privilege and rules that govern the bounds thereof. When statements are made as they were by the

Defendant herein without any regard to the truth or falsity of the same and made recklessly without care as to whether they were true or false and when the Defendant herein could have ascertained the truthfulness of it by merely calling on the telephone Commissioner V. Allen Olsen who was the commissioner in charge of the police department and who had the facts at his command, it would appear that the privilege, if any there was, was removed. (Refer to transcript page as to limitations on privilege. There are extensive annotations in 50 A.L.R. 335 and 63 A.L.R. 643 which support and set forth the above limitations on privilege and also another discussion of untrue or reckless statements being made and taking it out of the classification of privilege communications is further discussed in 46 L.R.A. (N.S.) 106.).

The Defendant herein testified (see page 3 of Defendant's deposition, lines 21 to 27; Defendant's deposition page 4, lines 6 through 11) however testimony of other witnesses, Martha Toombs, (official transcript page 9 and 10) which were taken from her shorthand minutes and which also was recorded in the same language in the official minutes of South Salt Lake City for the meeting held April 15 which record was approved by the City Commission at the subsequent meeting as being correct; further testimony by Helen Fraizer (transcript page 36); Bell Davis, (transcript page 45); George H. Searle, (transcript page 50); LeRoy Woods, Sr., (transcript pages 59 and 60); June Adams, (transcript page 62); B. Allen Olsen, (transcript page 72); Marion

Carter, (transcript page 82).

The Defendant, Ed Jackson, spent considerable time and thought in preparing the statements for this meeting and therefore having given it such consideration he could easily have verified the truth or accuracy of the allegations he made by merely consulting with the Councilman, V. Allen Olsen, in charge of the police department. Mr. Olsen testified that the statements made about officer Carter were false. (transcript page 74) Therefore, the Defendant having prepared a written document and given this considerable time to prepare it either mentioned officer Carter maliciously or recklessly when he could easily ascertained the truth thereof.

POINT III.

COMMENTS MADE ON A MATTER OF PUBLIC INTEREST ARE PRIVILEGED IF FAIRLY MADE, BUT COMMENT IS FAIR ONLY WHEN IT CONFINES ITSELF TO THINGS OR TO THE ACTS OF CONDUCT OF PERSONS, AND COMMENT GOING SO FAR AS TO ATTACK PERSONAL CHARACTER OR TO IMPUTE MORAL OR CORRUPT MOTIVES IS UNFAIR AND UNPRIVILEGED AND CERTAINLY NO PRIVILEGE EXTENDS TO MISSTATEMENTS OF FACT EVEN THOUGH MADE WITHOUT MALICE AND IN THE HONEST BELIEF THAT THEY ARE TRUE. THIS RULE HAS BEEN APPLIED EVEN THOUGH THE FALSE STATEMENT IS MADE UNINTENTIONALLY OR AS TO THE RESULT OF ACCIDENT OR MISTAKE.

Inasmuch as the Defendant herein read from a prepared copy it cannot be presumed that he made a mistake in mentioning the name of the Plaintiff herein or that it was unintentional as he had definitely and with pre-

meditation on the same had the matters he wished to discuss and the language thereof prepared. (Defendant's deposition, page 7). Even if the Defendant had made the statement he did as a misstatement of fact and with honest belief that it was true he would not have had a privilege to say the same. The Defendant herein used malice in uttering the false statement relative to the Plaintiff from the fact that he made no effort to verify the accuracy of the information he was imparting.

The Court held in *Gott vs. Pulsifer* (122 Massachusetts 235, 23 AM REP 322) "Malice may be inferred from false statements exceeding the limits of fair and reasonable criticism and recklessly uttered in disregard of the rights of those who might be affected by them."

In *Stevenson vs. Morris* (288 Pacific 405, 136 Atlantic 234, and Annotated in 50 A.L.R. in 335) it was held that in order to claim the benefit for privilege for his statements that the Defendant was bound to make reasonable effort to ascertain the truth of the charge made by him. Also in *Barry vs. McCollom* (81 Connecticut 293, 70 Atlantic 1035) it was held that the privilege depended not on reasonable grounds for believing the statement true but rather on good faith and honest belief that it was true. This also is further annotated and discussed in 50 A.L.R. 347.

POINT IV.

GENERAL DAMAGES PRESUMED FROM THE PUBLICATION OF A LIBELOUS MATTER, WHILE NOT SUSCEPTIBLE OF BEING ACCURATELY MEASURED,

ARE GENERALLY MORE SUBSTANTIAL AND REAL THAN THOSE DESIGNATED AS ACTUAL AND MEASURED ACCURATELY BY THE DOLLAR STANDARD, AND THE MERE CIRCUMSTANCE THAT THE PLAINTIFF RETAINED HIS EMPLOYMENT FOR SOME CONSIDERABLE TIME AFTER PUBLICATION OF A LIBEL CONCERNING HIM DOES NOT LIMIT THE DEFENDANT TO HAVE THE RECOVERY LIMITED TO NOMINAL DAMAGES IF IT APPEARS THAT THE PLAINTIFF'S EMPLOYER IMMEDIATELY LOST CONFIDENCE IN HIM AND THE PLAINTIFF SUFFERED HUMILIATION THEREBY AND AN AWARD FOR COMPENSATORY DAMAGES FOR DEFACTION MAY BE SUPPLEMENTED BY AN ALLOWANCE OF PUNITIVE DAMAGES WHEREINEVER IT IS MADE TO APPEAR THAT THE DEFENDANT ACTED WITH MALICE OR WITH SUCH GROSS AND RECKLESS NEGLIGENCE AS TO AMOUNT THERETO, AND FURTHERMORE, WHERE THE DEFACTION COMPLAINED OF IS ACTIONABLE PER SE IT IS GENERALLY HELD THAT PUNITIVE DAMAGES MAY BE AWARDED EVEN THOUGH THE AMOUNT OF ACTUAL DAMAGE IS NEITHER FOUND NOR SHOWN.

The question of whether or not that which was said was done with malice was a matter of fact for the jury to decide or also whether it was done with such reckless negligence is to amount thereto, and as much it would justify the Defendant to be entitled to punitive damages even though the amount of actual damages is neither found nor shown. However, in this case actual damages were indicated.

The Defendant herein was so intent on exercising his mandate from the people (see Defendant's deposition page 13, line 17 to 30) and issued these statements rock-

lessly and after recklessly and without regard to the truth of the matter which he could have easily ascertained.

POINT V.

THE COURT ERRED IN NOT SUBMITTING THE QUESTION OF WHETHER OR NOT SAID COMMUNICATION WAS PRIVILEGED TO THE JURY BECAUSE IT WAS A QUESTION OF FACT BASED UPON CIRCUMSTANCES.

Inasmuch as the matter of privilege could be lost by malice in the acts done by the Defendant this was properly a question of fact to be determined by the jury from the circumstances of this case. Also, the further fact that the Defendant could have ascertained the truth of this statement days before it was made and that he spent several days in his preparation would indicate that he was reckless or malicious in reciting an untrue statement and that the same was not privileged as a matter of law.

POINT VI.

THAT THE COURT ERRED IN MAKING A DIRECTED VERDICT AND DID NOT SUBMIT THE MATTER TO THE JURY. INASMUCH AS MALICE IS IMPLIED, WHERE THE STATEMENTS MADE WERE GIVEN RECKLESSLY WITHOUT EFFORT TO ASCERTAIN THEIR TRUTHFULNESS AND SAID STATEMENTS ARE FALSE AND THAT MALICE WOULD REMOVE ANY PRIVILEGE THAT THE DEFENDANT MAY HAVE HAD IN THE STATEMENTS MADE.

The same argument as set forth under Point V also applies here.

CONCLUSION

The Plaintiff herewith submits that the evidence was clear and cogent to the effect that the Defendant herein uttered a false and untrue statement concerning the Plaintiff which was either done maliciously or recklessly as to take it from any privilege that the said Defendant might have had as a councilman to discuss such matters in a council meeting. Also, that the Defendant herein strenuously attempted to correct the minutes of the meeting to his liking and to have omitted therefrom any reference to the accusations against the Plaintiff herein. (see transcript pages 20, 21, 23, 48, 70, and 74.)

There is no absolute privilege, as such, except in an actual court of law or in direct and absolute legislative proceedings. Furthermore, inasmuch as there was evidently bad feelings on the part of the Defendant who was the former chief of police of South Salt Lake and the Plaintiff who was a former police officer indicates that malice was intended because of the unfriendly relationship apparent through the transcript of the Defendant and the written statement prepared by the Defendant for reading at the city council meeting. Therefore, the Plaintiff respectfully submits to the Court that the lower court erred in not submitting to the jury the questions that would properly come before it and that there was no privilege here, or if there was, that the same was lost by the malicious or reckless false statement made by the Defendant herein and that the Defendant is entitled to

any general damages he sustained and also punitive damages. The amount of each to be properly determined by the jury.