### Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1960

# Marion S. Carter v. Edward B. Jackson : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF POINTS
ARGUMENT4
POINT I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN RUL- ING THE STATEMENT MADE BY DEFENDANT WAS ABSOLUTELY PRIVILEGED
POINT II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN RULING THAT PLAINTIFF HAD FAILED TO PROVE MALICE.
CONCLUSION 12
AUTHORITIES CITED CASES
Barton v. Rogers, 21 Idaho 609, 123 Pac. 473 (Board of Trustees of School District)
Combes v. Montgomery Ward & Co., 119 Utah 407, 228 P. 2d 272
Harnish v. Smith, 138 Cal. App. 2d 307, 291 P.2d 532 (City Council)
Hughes v. Bizzel, 189 Okl. 472, 117 P. 2d 673 (Board of Regents)
Sanford v. Howard, 185 Okla. 660, 95 P. 2d 644
Wachsmuth v. Merchants' Nat. Bank, 96 Mich. 426, 56 NW 9 5
STATUTES
Utah Code Annotated 1953
Sec. 10-6-5
Sec. 10-6-68
Sec. 45-2-3 (1) and (2)
TEXTS
33 Am. Jur. 123, Libel and Slander, Sec. 125 4

## In the Supreme Court of the State of Utah

MARION S. CARTER,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

—vs.—

EDWARD B. JACKSON,

Defendant and Respondent.

Case No. 9055

#### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The statement of the case contained in Appellant's Brief is not complete and we submit the following additional facts which have a bearing on the case.

This case is a slander action instituted by plaintiff, a Deputy Police Marshall of the City of South Salt Lake against defendant, a City Councilman for said City. Plaintiff claims that on April 15, 1958, during the regularly scheduled City Council Meeting for South Salt Lake, defendant made the statement that plaintiff had propositioned a woman while issuing her a traffic ticket.

Plaintiff called as witnesses the City Recorder Tombs and her assistant, Frazier, who testified that according to the minutes of the Council Meeting defendant had made the statement as claimed by plaintiff (Exhibit 1). The witnesses testified they were not shorthand reporters and there was a considerable amount of interruptions and confusion during the entire meeting. (R. 21, 22, 46)

The witness Tombs further testified on cross examination that defendant and one other councilman had objected to the accuracy of the minutes taken at the meeting and this objection is noted in the subsequent meeting of the City Council held on April 29, 1958 (Exhibit 2) (R. 25, 26).

The witness, V. Allen Olsen, testified he was a City Councilman for South Salt Lake assigned to the Police Department (R. 80) and while attending an Executive Council Meeting in March, 1958, advised the defendant and other councilmen that one of the officers of the Police Force had been accused of propositioning a woman while she was receiving a traffic ticket. In view of this information he requested the members of the Council to relate to him any information they may have relative to the activities of the police officers (R. 82, 83).

The witness further testified that during the meeting of April 15, 1958, the issue which precipitated the discussion concerning the Police Department and its activities was the discharge of a police officer, William Krieg (R. 76-83).

Plaintiff testified he attended the Council Meeting believing the activities of the Police Department and particularly the discharge of Officer Krieg would be discussed (R. 97). The plaintiff further testified that prior to this meeting he had not known the defendant other than the fact he was an elected official; had never had any difficulty with him; and had never had any occasion to either talk to him or come in contact with him (R. 102-103). Plaintiff also admitted writing the resignation letter (Exhibit 4).

At the completion of plaintiff's case, the trial court directed a verdict of No Cause of Action for the reasons any statement made by defendant was privileged and plaintiff had failed to introduce any evidence showing defendant acted with actual malice. We respectfully submit the ruling by the trial court was correct and should be affirmed by this court.

#### STATEMENT OF POINTS

#### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN RULING THE STATEMENT MADE BY DEFENDANT WAS ABSOLUTELY PRIVILEGED.

#### POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN RULING THAT PLAINTIFF HAD FAILED TO PROVE MALICE.

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN RULING THE STATEMENT MADE BY DEFENDANT WAS ABSOLUTELY PRIVILEGED.

As a defense to this case, defendant claimed that the alleged statement concerning plaintiff was absolutely privileged and defendant was not liable. The basis for the defense of privilege was on the ground that the statement was made during a regularly scheduled City Council Meeting for the City of South Salt Lake and the statement was relative to a matter then under discussion by the Council.

Under Point 1 of his brief, plaintiff contends the defense is not applicable to this type of public meeting. In support of his position he cites an annotation contained in 2 A.L.R. 1371. This annotation discusses the application of the defense of absolute privilege to a Board of Pardons hearing and we submit is not in point.

Absolutely privileged communication has been defined in 33 Am. Jur. 123, Libel and Stander, Section 125:

"An absolutely privileged communication is one in respect of which, by reason of the occasion on which, or the matter in reference to which, it is made, no remedy can be had in a civil action, however hard it may bear upon a person who claims to be injured thereby, and even though it may have been made maliciously.

"The class of absolutely privileged communications is narrow and is practically limited to

legislative and judicial proceedings and other acts of state, including, it is said, communications made in the discharge of a duty under express authority of law, by or to heads of executive departments of the state, and matters involving military affairs. The privilege is not intended so much for the protection of those engaged in the public service and in the enactment and administration of law, as for the promotion of the public welfare, the purpose being that members of the legislature, judges of courts, jurors, lawyers, and witnesses may speak their minds freely and exercise their respective functions without incurring the risk of a criminal prosecution or an action for the recovery of damages."

This defense has been applied in cases involving public meetings similar to the case at bar. Wachsmuth v. Merchants' Nat. Bank (1893) 96 Mich. 426, 56 N.W. 9, plaintiff was a member of the Common Council of the City of Muskigan. The defendant, as alderman, presented a resolution to the effect that the City's money which was in a certain bank, was no longer adequately secured and should be deposited in another bank. The bank instituted a libel action and plaintiff was arrested and admitted to bail. Plaintiff instituted this action for false imprisonment for his arrest.

In discussing the statement made by the alderman, the court stated as follows:

"The affidavit disclosed that the resolution was offered by plaintiff as a member of the Common Council to that body, and related to a matter in the line of plaintiff's duty as a public officer. In other words, the affidavit, upon its face, showed

that the resolution charged as libelous was, as a matter of law, absolutely privileged."

In Sanford v. Howard, 185 Okla. 660, 95 P. 2d 644 (1939), judgment was entered in favor of plaintiff and against the defendant. The action was one in slander. Plaintiff was a teacher at a University, defendant was its president and appeared before the Board of Regents. He there stated concerning plaintiff that she had been arrested for immoral conduct, that she was naked at the time and was engaged in sexual intercourse. It appeared that the Board of Regents had imposed upon defendant the duty of reporting to the Board any misconduct or any irregularity on the part of any teacher at the University. Oklahoma has statutes similar to Utah's Section 45-2-3, Utah Code Annotated, 1953. The court stated:

"Manifestly, in the light of these statutes, the Board of Regents being charged with the duty of governing the University 'in all its interests' deemed it essential to proper government of the institution to have information of the nature which the evidence shows the defendant conveyed to said board. And to that end, according to the record before us, said board had imposed upon the defendant as one of his duties as president of the University the matter of reporting to the board 'any misconduct' or 'any irregularity' on the part of 'any teacher or employee of the University.' Hence, we think it may be said, that in conveying to the Board of Regents such information as he had obtained regarding alleged misconduct of the plaintiff the defendant was acting 'in the proper discharge of an official duty' (Sec. 726, supra); and further, that the occasion upon which the defendant conveyed such information to said Board of Regents was one upon which absolute privilege attended the communication which he there made."

The judgment in favor of plaintiff was reversed and the trial court was ordered to dismiss plaintiff's action.

See also Hughes v. Bizzel, 189 Okl. 472, 117 P. 2d 763 (Board of Regents); Harnish v. Smith, 138 Cal. App. 2d 307, 291 P. 2d 532 (City Council); Barton v. Rogers 21 Idaho 609, 123 Pac. 478 (Board of Trustees of School District).

A reading of the Utah statutes conferring powers on a city council establishes that proceedings at its meetings should be held to come within an absolute privilege. Section 10-6-5, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, provides

"Boards and councils as legislative and governing bodies. — The board of commissioners in cities of the first and second class, the mayor and city council in cities of the third class and the board of trustees in towns are and shall be the legislative and governing bodies of such cities and towns, and as such shall have, exercise and discharge all of the rights, powers, privileges and authority conferred by law upon their respective cities, towns or bodies, and shall perform all duties that may be required of them by law."

Thus we see that the city council is expressly declared to be both the legislative and governing body for South Salt Lake. Proceedings before such a body come within the principle of our statutes and law relating to privilege. A statement made by a councilman before that

body on a pertinent subject certainly comes within the category of a proper discharge of an official duty and is included within any statement made in any legislative or judicial hearing or in any other official proceeding authorized by law. Section 45-2-3 subdivision (1) and (2), Utah Code Annotated, 1953.

Also, it is clear that under section 10-6-68, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, the city council were properly considering the conduct of police officers. That statute provides:

"Marshal in third class cities. — In cities of the third class the marshal shall be ex officio chief of police, and shall perform the duties and exercise the authority thereof. He shall, under the direction of the council, direct and control the police of the city, and whenever the interests of the city demand, by and with the consent of the mayor, shall appoint such number of special policemen as may be required, and perform such other duties as may be prescribed by ordinance."

In the case at bar the topic of discussion at the time the statement was made by Councilman Jackson was the police department and its personnel.

The subject of William Krieg's dismissal from the police force was mentioned (20) and then, according to the minutes, "a discussion ensued regarding the conduct of the police department \* \*" (21). It culminated in the following action, "After the discussion Mr. Olson (the councilman assigned to the police department) made the following motion that a transcript be typed of the state-

ments made at this meeting regarding the police department, that the City Marshal prepare a detailed report and that the City Council meet at the earliest possible date to consider the matter. Mr. Woods seconded the motion" (23, 24). The motion was unanimously carried (24).

In view of these circumstances, we contend the relating of this information is entitled to the protection of the law and was in performance of plaintiff's public duties outlined in Section 10-6-5 and 68, Utah Code Annotated, 1953. To subject an elected official to liability for making the statement would violate the absolute privilege accorded plaintiff in the performance of his official duties as councilman.

#### POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN RULING THAT PLAINTIFF HAD FAILED TO PROVE MALICE.

Without abandoning the argument made under Point I of this brief, defendant respectfully submits that if his statement is not absolutely privileged, it is at least qualifiedly or conditionally privileged. Defendant further contends that when a statement is qualifiedly privileged, burden is on plaintiff to show actual malice, and, if he fails, he has not proven a cause of action.

Plaintiff discusses the issue of malice under Points 2, 3, and 4 of his brief. Plaintiff admits that malice is an essential element to be proved in his case, but contends the required malice may be inferred from certain conduct of defendant. To prove this conduct, plaintiff

makes numerous references to statements made by defendant in his deposition. We respectfully submit this approach is improper in view of the fact the deposition of defendant was not introduced in evidence by plaintiff and is not even a part of the record on appeal. Without laboring this point, we submit this Court has previously considered this matter and defined the degree of proof necessary to show malice.

In Combes v. Montgomery Ward & Co., 119 Utah 407, 228 P. 2d 272, an action was brought for slander. A directed verdict in favor of defendant was granted by the trial court and on appeal affirmed. The specific ruling was that the occasion on which the statements were made were qualifiedly privileged and that there was no proof of malice. Plaintiff was working for defendant. The trial court took the view that taking the circumstances altogether, that is: the loss of \$1.50 from plaintiff's department, the questioning of two fellow employees and asking them about plaintiff's honesty, together with the fact that plaintiff was discharged at the end of the day, imputed dishonesty to plaintiff and was slanderous per se.

The court concluded that a conditional privilege existed. It then discussed whether or not actual malice was present and in finding that there was no proof thereof, held that the trial court properly directed a verdict. The court stated:

"It should be borne in mind that there is a distinction between the malice which is implied

from every defamatory publication and the actual malice which is necessary to remove a conditional privilege, the privileged communication being an exception to the rule that every such defamatory publication implies malice; National Standard Life Ins. Co. v. Billington, Tex. Civ. App. 89 S.W. 2d 491 at page 493, states a definition of this type of malice which has been used and approved by numerous courts:

"This kind of malice . . . which overcomes and destroys the privilege, is, of course, quite distinct from that which the law, in the first instance, imputes with respect to every defamatory charge, irrespective of motive. It has been defined to be an 'indirect and wicked motive which induces the defendant to defame the plaintiff.'"

"Where the conditional privilege exists, the defendant is protected unless plaintiff pleads and proves facts which indicate actual malice in that the utterances were made from spite, ill will or hatred toward him, and unless the plaintiff produces such evidence, there is no issue to be submitted to the jury, Speilberg v. Kuhn & Brother Co., et al., 39 Utah 276, 116 P. 1027; Williams v. Standard Examiner Pub. Co., 83 Utah 31, 27 P. 2d 1."

In the case at bar, plaintiff failed to introduce any testimony which would show defendant acted with malice. Plaintiff also failed to produce one witness who testified to facts that a jury could find defendant was making the statement as a result of spite, ill will or hatred for the plaintiff. As a matter of fact, the testimony tended to establish lack of actual malice. Plaintiff testified he

had not known defendant before this time, had never talked with him or come in contact with him, and he had never had any difficulty with him. He only knew that defendant had been elected a Councilman. Under the evidence there was just no basis for a finding of spite, hatred, or ill will in defendant making any statement of, and concerning plaintiff.

We respectfully submit, that in view of this condition of the record, and applying the rule enunciated by this court, the trial court could do nothing but rule that plaintiff had failed to prove malice.

Plaintiff contends under Point IV of his brief that the issue of malice was a matter of fact for the jury and further he was entitled to punitive damages. We submit that Combes v. Montgomery Ward & Co., supra, resolves this contention against plaintiff. Plaintiff in this case failed to prove malice and therefore plaintiff's cause of action fails and he is not entitled to receive any amount as damages.

The discussion under Point V and VI of plaintiff's brief is nothing more than a repetition of other points contained in the brief and we submit have been answered.

#### CONCLUSION

Defendant respectfully submits that the trial court did not err in ruling the statement made by defendant was absolutely privileged. We further contend if the statement is not absolutely privileged, it is at least conditionally or qualifiedly privileged and plaintiff failed to prove malice.

We submit the trial court properly directed a verdict in favor of defendant and against plaintiff, No Cause of Action. The judgment of the trial court should be affirmed.

Respectully submitted,

RAWLINGS, WALLACE, ROBERTS & BLACK

Counsel for Respondent